UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 95-60456
Summary Cal endar

CUTBERTO | BARRA- Pl NEDQ,
Petiti oner,

VERSUS

| MM GRATI ON AND NATURALI ZATI ON SERVI CE

Respondent .

Petition for Review of
Order of Immgration and Naturalization Service

June 14, 1996
Bef ore DAVI S, BARKSDALE, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Cutberto Ibarra-Pinedo petitions for review of the Board of
| mm gration Appeals (Bl A) order finding himdeportable and denyi ng
his requests for suspension of deportation. W deny the petition.

| .

Petitioner, a Mexican citizen, was granted |awful permnent
resi dence status in the United States in 1990. He lives in Lufkin,
Texas with his famly and works at a local factory. Two of his
children are United States citizens but his wife Anelia and his

daughter Giselda are not. However, Anelia and Giselda have

"Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



obt ai ned perm ssiontoliveinthe United States through the Fam |y
Fai rness Program See Section 301(a) of the Immgration Act of
1990.

On January, 16, 1993, a Saturday, Ibarra traveled fromLufkin
to the border and crossed into Mexico. He intended to return the
next day with his daughter, a United States citizen, so that she
could attend school on Monday. |Ibarra’s daughter and his w fe had
been in Mexico for fifteen days, tending to his wfe's father who
was dyi ng.

Upon arriving in Mxico, |barra learned that his wfe had
arranged toillegally re-enter the United States that ni ght and had
found two nen to help her across the RRo G ande. Apparently, she
had I eft the United States too suddenly to nmake arrangenents for a
| egal return. When I barra saw that the nen she had found to
acconpany her were drunk, he tried to di ssuade her fromgoing with
t hem But she refused to stay in Mexico alone. Petitioner
testified that he then decided to hel p her across the river hinself
because he was afraid of what the nmen mght do to her. Leaving his
daughter in Mexico, Ibarra crossed the river wwth his wife and was
arrested by border patrol agents on January 17, 1993.

On January 18, 1993, the Inmmgration and Naturalization
Service (INS) issued an Order to Show Cause why Petitioner should
not be deported as an alien who had entered the United States
W t hout inspection, a violation of 8 U S.C. 8§ 1251(a)(1)(b). The
| mm gration Judge (1J) found that | barra had entered illegally by
not presenting hinself for inspection and that he was deportabl e on

this charge. She also determned that Petitioner was entitled to



nei t her suspension of deportation, under 8 U S C. 8§ 1254(a), nor
vol untary departure, under 8 1254(e), because he had assisted his
wife inentering the United States illegally.! He therefore | acked
the “good noral character” required under both provisions.

| barra appeal ed to the Board of I mm gration Appeals (BIA). He
argued that he had not nade an "entry" because his departure was
brief, casual, and innocent and did not interrupt his permanent
residence. He further argued that the 1J's determ nation that he
had knowingly aided his wife in illegally entering the United
States was not supported by clear and convincing evidence.
Finally, even if he had entered the United States and had assi sted
his wife in doing so, Ibarra contended that, under 8 US C 8§
1182(d)(11), he was eligible for a waiver of the application of §
1182(a)(6) (E) (1), the provision rendering himexcludable for alien
smuggling. This waiver, in turn, functioned as a waiver of the
finding of lack of good noral character under § 1101(f)(3).
Therefore, argued Ibarra, he was statutorily eligible for

suspensi on of deportation.

The Bl A dismssed Ibarra's appeal. It determined that Ibarra
had made an illegal entry within the neaning of § 1101(a)(3)
because, by aiding his wife to illegally enter the United States,

he had neaningfully interrupted his pernmanent resi dence. Moreover,
by nmeaningfully interrupting his residence, Petitioner could not

establish the seven years of continuous physical presence in the

. Havi ng concl uded that |barra was statutorily ineligible
for suspension of deportation, the |IJ declined to address whet her
the Petitioner had made an "entry" in violation of the Immgration
and Nationality Act.



United States required to qualify for statutory suspension of
deportation under § 1254(a). Finally, the BIA concluded that
| barra was not eligible for a 8 1254(e) voluntary departure because
he had admtted to helping his wife illegally cross the R o Grande.
The BIA rejected Ilbarra's argunent that a waiver under 8
1182(d)(11) applied to waive a finding of Ilack of good noral
character under § 1101(f).

W review the BIA' s factual conclusions for substantial
evidence and will affirmits decision unless the evidence conpels

a contrary concl usion. Carbaj al - Gonzal ez, 78 F.3d at 197. Its

| egal conclusions we review de novo. | d. However, we accord

deference tothe BIA's interpretation of immgration statutes. |[|d.

1.

| barra presents two general argunents in his appeal. He
contends that he is not eligible for deportation because, on
January 17, 1993, he did not effect an "entry" into the United
States within the nmeaning of 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(13) and Rosenberg
v. Fleuti, 374 U. S. 449 (1963). In the alternative, he clains that
the BIA erred when it declared him statutorily ineligible for
suspension of deportation on grounds that his participation in
al i en snmuggl i ng precluded the Board fromfinding himto possess the
good noral character required for this relief. |Ibarra challenges
t he denial of suspension of deportation in three ways. First, he
argues that the BIA's finding that he assisted his wife to enter
the United States in violation of 8 U S.C § 1182(a)(6)(E)(I) is

not supported by substantial evidence. He next contends that he



could not have been found in violation of 8 USC 8§
1182(a)(6) (E) (1) because he was never charged with the offense in
a charging docunent. Therefore, he had no notice of the charge.
Finally, Petitioner argues that the BIA erred in ruling that a
wai ver under 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1182(d)(11) does not renove a finding of
| ack of good noral character. W address each in turn.
A

An alien who enters the United States w thout inspection is
deportable under 8 U S C. 8§ 1251(a)(1)(B). This provision,
however, requires that a resident alien do nore than sinply cross
the border wi thout inspection. He nust nake an "entry" within the

meaning of 8 U . S.C. § 1101(a)(3). Carbajal- Gonzalez, 78 F.3d at

197. | barra argues that he did not effect such an "entry."
Therefore, he is not deportable.

The Suprene Court has held that a resident alien only effects
an "entry" under 8 1101(a)(3) if "he intended to depart in a manner
"meani ngfully interruptive'" of his permanent residence. Rosenberg
v. Fleuti, 374 U.S. 449 (1963)). To determ ne whet her a neani ngf ul
interruption has occurred, Fleuti requires that we carefully
bal ance several factors, anong them" (1) the length of the alien's
absence from the United States; (2) whether the alien had to
procure travel docunents for the trip; and (3) the purpose of the
visit, wth an enphasis on whether the purpose was contrary to

immgration policy." Carbajal-Gnzalez, 78 F.3d at 197 (citing

Fleuti, 374 U S. at 461-62). These factors, however, are not
exhaustive. 1d. More recently, we have recogni zed that a resident

alien's fully consunmmated intent to actively engage in alien



smuggling is an extrenely inportant consideration. See id. at 200

(explaining Laredo-Mranda v. 1.N.S., 555 F.2d 1242 (5th GCr.
1977)). That this intent is formed after the alien's departure
fromthe United States is irrelevant. |d.

Al t hough a nunber of these factors weigh in Ibarra favor, the
BIA did not err in dismssing his appeal. Petitioner planned only
a short trip to Mexico; he intended to stay there just one night.
The record, noreover, contains no evidence that he was required to
obtain travel docunents. On the other hand, the record clearly
denonstrates a fully consunmmated intent to engage in alien
smuggling. Ibarra testified that he knew his wife could not cross
the border legally and that to assist her in doing so he woul d have

to break the | aw. Under our decision in Laredo-Mranda, therefore,

| barra effected an "entry" within the neaning of § 1101(a)(3). See
Lar edo- M randa, 555 F. 2d at 1245-46 (holding that a | awful resident

alien who had crossed the border to dine with his girlfriend and
who decided to wade the R o Grande only upon discovering he had
forgotten his green card neaningfully interrupted his permnent
residence status when he assisted a group of aliens who were
attenpting to cross the river at the sane point); see also

Car baj al - Gonzal ez, 78 F.3d at 199-200. The BIA did not err in

hol di ng hi m deportabl e under 8§ 1251(a)(1)(B)
B.
| barra also challenges the BIA's ruling that he is not
eligible for suspension of deportation under 8§ 1254(a). That
provision requires an alien to establish that he is a "person of

good noral character.™ Section 1101(f) defines "good noral



character.” In relevant part it states:

For purposes of this chapter . . . No person shall be

regarded as, or found to be, a person of good noral

character who, during the period for which good nora

character is required to be established, is, or was . .

. a nmenber of one or nore of the classes of persons,

whet her excl udabl e or not, described in paragraphs . . .

(6)(E) . . . of section 1182(a) of this title . . . if

the of fense descri bed therein, for which such person was

convicted, or of which he admts the conmm ssion, was

commtted during such period. . . . The fact that any
person is not within any of the foregoing cl asses shal

not preclude a finding that for other reasons such person

is or was not of good noral character.

Par agraph (6)(E) of section 1182(a) lists classes of "excludable
aliens."” Anong the excludable are "snuggl ers," described as "[a] ny
alien who at any tine know ngly has encouraged, induced, assisted,
abetted, or aided any other alien to enter or to try to enter the
United States in violation of law is excludable.” §
1182(a)(6) (E) (I).

Under this statutory schene, Ibarra is not eligible for
suspension of deportation if he assisted his wife in illegally
entering the United States. He argues, therefore, that the BIA
finding that he participated in smuggling is not supported by
substanti al evidence. As the |IJ pointed out, however, the evidence
that Ibarra assisted his wife in illegally entering the United
States is "overwhel mng." The Petitioner admtted to acconpanyi ng
her so that she would not be forced to rely on assistance fromtwo
men whom he consi dered drunken and untrustworthy. |barra assisted
his wife in crossing the river, and assistance is all that is
required to violate 8 1182(a)(6)(E)(I).

| barra also suggests that he should not have been found

excl udabl e under 8 1182(a)(6)(E)(1) because he was never charged



with smuggling in a charging docunent. This argunent is specious.
Section 1101(f) requires only that Petitioner adm t to
participation in snuggling. More inportantly, lbarra failed to
present this argunent to the BIA, therefore, it is not properly

before us. See Manobka v. I.N.S., 43 F. 3d 184, 187 (5th Cr. 1995).

Finally, Ibarra contends that, even if he is technically

excl udabl e under § 1182(a)(6)(E)(1), heis eligible for a waiver of

this exclusion wunder § 1182(d)(11). This waiver provision
provi des:
The Attorney GCeneral may, 1in his discretion for

humani t ari an purposes, to assure famly unity, or when it
is otherwiseinthe public interest, waive application of
clause (1) of subsection (a)(6)(E) of this sectioninthe
case of any alien lawfully admtted for pernmanent
resi dence who tenporarily proceeded abroad voluntarily
and not wunder an order of deportation, and who is
ot herwi se adm ssible to the United States as a returning
resi dent under section 1182(b) of this title and in the
case of an alien seeking adm ssion or adjustnent of
status as an immediate relative or inmmgrant under
section 1153(a) of this title (other than paragraph (4)
therefore) if the alien has encouraged, induced,
assi sted, abetted, or aided only the alien's spouse,
parent, son, or daughter (and not other individual) to
enter the United States in violation of |aw

§ 1182(d)(11). Petitioner argues that this provision waives a
finding of lack of good noral character under § 1101(f)(3) because
it "waives application" of 8 1182(a)(6)(E)(l), thereby w ping out
all negative |egal consequences of that provision. One of those
consequences is, of course, the requirenent that INS consider al

i ndi vi dual s who admit to smuggling described in 8 1182(a)(6)(E)(Il)
as persons lacking in good noral character. See 8§ 1101(f)(3).
Petitioner contends, therefore, that the BIA erred in ruling him
statutorily ineligible for suspension of deportation under 8§

1254(a) because it did not apply the wai ver provision to extinguish

8



the finding of |ack of good noral character. The INS responds that
t he wai ver provision of § 1182(d)(11) does not affect a good noral
character determ nation under 8§ 1101(f)(3).

The plain |anguage of 8§ 1101(f)(3) supports the BIAs

interpretation of the statute. Section 1101(f)(3) states that,

"whet her excludable or not," no person who is described in 88§
1182(a)(2) (D) (prostitution and comercialized vi ce),
6( E) (smuggling), and 9(A) (pol ygany) "shall be regarded as . . . a
person of good noral character.™ The key words are "whether
excl udabl e or not." The wai ver under 8 1182(d)(11) provides | barra
wth a strong argunent that he i s not "excludable." However, under

the terms of 8§ 1101(f)(3), that fact that he is not excludabl e does
not make hima person of good noral character and thereby eligible
for suspension of deportation. The BIA did not err in declaring
Petitioner ineligible for suspension of deportation.
L1l
For these reasons, we dismss the petition.

DI SM SSED.



